



West Africa Science Service Center on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use

UNIVERSITE DE LOME

FACULTY OF ART AND HUMAMITIES DEPARTMENT OF GEOGRAPHY

MASTER RESEARCH PROGRAM ON CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN SECURITY

CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND RICE PRODUCTION IN MALI: A CASE STUDY OF "OFFICE RIZ SÉGOU"

Thesis N^o.....

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Master Research Degree

Domain: Humanity and Social Sciences

Mention: Climate Change

Specialty: Human Security

Submitted by:

Seydou Dembélé

Supervisor:

Dr. Bino Témé, Michigan State University

Approved by:

Chair of Committee: Prof. Jean Mianikpo Sogbedji, Université de Lomé Committee Members: Prof. Mawuli Aziadekey, Université de Lomé Prof. Kodjo Agbeko Tounou, Université de Lomé

Director of Program: Prof. Kouami Kokou

November, 2015

DEDICATION

То

- My father Siaka DEMBELE and my mother Sata DEMBELE for all their sacrifices
 - My grand-mother Safiatou SANOGO, brothers and sisters

ABSTRACT

Agriculture is a major aspect of the food systems, which is affected by climate variability. This study assessed the effect of climate variability on rice production in "Office Riz Ségou" (ORS), Mali from 1980 to 2014. The methods used include linear and multiple regression analysis of times series data on hydro-climatic parameters (temperature, rainfall, humidity and river flow) and descriptive statistics which was used to analyse farmers' perception and adaptation measures. The results from analysis of hydro-climatic factors show an increasing trend at 1% significant level with the exception of rainfall. Correlation between rice production and hydro-climatic parameters shows that rice production is not directly dependent on these parameters. Also, there is a weak relationship between hydro-climatic parameters and rice production. However, the results of multiple regression analysis show that the effect of temperature on rice production is significant at 5% while, other parameters are not significant. Most of the households (86%) considered drought as the main cause of climate change. The majority of the households (98%) indicated that they do not use any coping/adaptation strategies to drought but creation of drainage system and the use of improved seeds were considered as the main adaptation strategies to flood in the study area.

Keywords: Climate variability, rice production, Office-Riz-Ségou, trend analysis

RESUME

L'agriculture est un aspect majeur des systèmes alimentaires, elle est affectée par la variabilité climatique. Cette étude a évalué l'effet de la variabilité climatique sur la production du riz de 1980 à 2014. Les méthodes utilisées comprennent l'analyse de régression multiple et linéaire des séries chronologiques des données sur les paramètres hydro-climatiques (température, pluviométrie, humidité et la crue du fleuve); la statistique descriptive a été utilisée pour l'analyse de la perception et l'adaptation riziculteur. Les résultats obtenus de l'analyse des paramètres hydro-climatiques ont montré une augmentation significative au seuil de 1%, à l'exception de la pluviométrie. La corrélation entre la production du riz et les paramètres hydro-climatiques montre que la production du riz ne dépend pas directement de ces paramètres. Il excite également une faible relation entre les paramètres et la production du riz. Cependant, les résultats de l'analyse de régression multiple ont montré que l'effet de la température sur la production du riz est significatif au seuil de 5%, alors que les autres paramètres ne sont pas significatifs. La plus part des ménages (86%) considèrent que la sècheresse est la cause principale de la diminution de la production de riz à l'ORS tandis que 55,3% considèrent la déforestation comme la cause principale du changement climatique. La majorité des ménages (98%) ont indiqué ne pas disposer de stratégies d'adaptation à la sécheresse mais la création d'un système de drainage et l'utilisation de semences améliorées ont été considérés comme les principales stratégies d'adaptation à l'inondation dans la zone d'étude.

Mots-clés: La variabilité du climat, la production du riz, Office-Riz-Ségou, analyse des tendances

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to God for the grace given to me to be part of this advanced MRP (Master Research Program). My appreciation goes to the WASCAL (West African Science Service Center on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use) for providing me with the funding for this MRP.

I would like to thank the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) for funding the WASCAL Project, coordinated by the Center for Development Research (ZEF, Bonn University), in which MRP took place.

I would like to thank all lecturers, who have shared their knowledge with me in one way or the other during my course study at the Université de Lomé. I am particularly grateful towards Professor Kouami Kokou, Dr. Aklesso Egbendewe-Mondzodzo, Professor Mawuli Aziadekey, Professor Jean Mianikpo Sogbedji, Associate Professor Ruben Kodjo Afagla, Associate Professor Kodjo Agbeko Tounou and other members of staff in the Academic and Management team of WASCAL, Université de Lomé for their training, guidance and encouragement.

I am grateful to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Bino Témé and his assistant Dr. Yénizié Koné of Michigan State University of Bamako, Mali.

My special thanks go to Dr. Souleymane Sanogo, Mr. Karamoko Sanogo, and all the members of the Laboratory of Optics, Spectroscopy and Science of Atmosphere (LOSSA) of the Faculty of Science and Technique, Bamako, Mali.

My sincere gratitudes go to Mr. Gadedjisso-Tossou Agossou, the WASCAL-MRP batch1 who helps me to clarify my research methodology. I would like to thank all my colleagues of WASCAL-CCHS-batch 2.

Finally my thanks go to my mother and father for all their support and encouragement during the MRP. It is my prayer that God will reward all of you bountifully.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Content

Pages

DEDICATIONii
ABSTRACTiii
RESUMEiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF TABLESxi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xii
CHAPTER ONE
INTRODUCTION1
1.1. Problem Statement
1.2. Research Objectives
1.3. Research Questions
1.4. Research Hypotheses4
1.5. Plan of the Thesis
CHAPTER TWO
LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1. Climate Variability and Change5
2.2. Climate Change and Crop Production6
2.3. Concept of Food Security7
2.4. Food and Nutrition Security7
2.5. Climate Change, Food Security, Poverty and Hunger8
2.6. Effect of Climate Change on Rice Production9
2.7. Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change11
2.8. Review of Theoretical Methods11
CHAPTER THREE
MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1. Study Area13
3.2. Sampling Procedure and Data Collection15

3.2.1. Primary Data	15
3.2.2. Secondary Data	15
3.4. Data Analysis	16
3.5. Analytical Techniques	16
3.5.1. Trend Analysis	16
3.5.2. Multiple Regression Model	17
3.5.3. Farmers' Perception	
CHAPTER FOUR	19
RESULTS AND DISCUSION	19
4.1. Trend of Hydro-Climatic Parameters	19
4.1.1. Inter-annual Variability of Rainfall	19
4.1.2. Anomaly of Inter-annual Variability of Rainfall	20
4.1.3. Seasonal Variability of Monthly Rainfall	20
4.1.4. Variation in Temperature	21
4.1.5. Variation in Temperature Anomaly	22
4.1.6. Trend of Humidity	23
4.1.7. Anomaly Variation in Relative Humidity	24
4.1.8. Trend of River Flow	25
4.1.9. Anomaly in River Flow	26
4.2. Inter-annual Variability of Rice production	27
4.2.1. Trend of Rice Production	27
4.2.1. Rice Production Anomaly	28
4.3. Relationship between Rice Production and Hydro-climatic Parameters	29
4.3.1. Rainfall and Rice Production	29
4.3.2. Temperature and Rice Production	31
4.3.3. Humidity and Rice Production	
4.3.4. River Flow and Rice Production	35
4.4. Multiple Regression of Rice Production as a Function of Hydro-climatic Factors	
4.5. Farmers' Perception on Climate Change	
4.5.1. Farmers' Perception on Rainfall	
4.5.2. Farmers' Perception on Temperature	

4.5.3. The Effect of Climate Hazard on Rice Production	40
4.5.4. Adaptation Strategies	41
CHAPTER FIVE	43
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	43
REFERENCES	45

LIST OF FIGURES

Content	Pages
Figure 1.1: Relationship between rice, mean day/night air temperature and CO ₂ co	ncentration in
five separate experiments	
Figure 2.1: Relationship between climate change, food production, food security a	nd human
security	9
Figure 3.1: Location of the study area	14
Figure 4.1: Inter-annual variability of rainfall (1980-2014)	19
Figure 4.2: Anomaly of rainfall time's series (1980-2014)	20
Figure 4.3: Monthly rainfall variability (1980-2014)	21
Figure 4.4: Inter-annual variability of mean temperature (1980-2014	22
Figure 4.5: Anomaly of inter-annual mean temperature (1980-2014)	23
Figure 4.6: Variation of inter-annual relative humidity (1980-2014)	24
Figure 4.7: Anomaly of inter-annual mean humidity (1980-2014)	
Figure 4.8: Inter-annual variability of river flow (1980-2013)	26
Figure 4.9: Anomaly of inter-annual mean river flow (1980-2013)	27
Figure 4.10: Inter-annual variation of rice production (1992-2013)	
Figure 4.11: Inter-annual anomaly of rice production (1992-2013)	
Figure 4.12: Relationship between rice production and rainfall	30
Figure 4.13: Correlation between rice production and rainfall	31
Figure 4.14: Relationship between temperature and rice production	32
Figure 4.15: Correlation between rice production and temperature	
Figure 4.16: Relationship between humidity and rice production	
Figure 4.17: Correlation between rice production and humidity	35

Figure 4.18: Relationship between river flow and rice production	36
Figure 4.19: Correlation between rice production and river flow	37
Figure 4.20: Farmers' perception on the timing of rainfall	39
Figure 4.21: Farmers' perception on the nature of rainfall	39
Figure 4.22. Farmers' perception on temperature	40
Figure 4.23: Farmers' perception on the effect of rainfall on rice production	41
Figure 4.24: Farmers' perception on the effect of temperature on rice production	41
Figure 4.25: Farmees' adaptation strategies	42

LIST OF TABLES

Content	Pages
Table 3.1: Description of secondary data	16
Table 4.1: Summary of trend analysis.	
Table4.2: Multiple regression of rice production as a function of hydro-climatic factors	

Annex Ab	
Annex Bd	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGRA:	Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa
CO ₂ :	Carbon Dioxide
DADP:	Delta State Agricultural Development Programme
FAO:	Food and agricultural organization
GDP:	Gross Domestic Product
IPCC:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IPCC-AR4:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Assessment Report four
IPCC-TAR:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change third Assessment Report
LOSSA:	Laboratory of Optics, Spectroscopy and Science of Atmosphere
MRP:	Master Research Program
MSU:	Michigan State University
ORM:	Office Riz Mopti
ORS:	Office Riz Ségou
RPGH:	Recensement General de la Population et de l'Habitat du Mali
SSA:	Sub-Sahara Africa
UNFCCC:	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNICEF:	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
USAID:	United States Agency for International Development
USGS:	United States Geological Survey
WASCAL:	West Africa Science Service Center on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use
WDI:	World Development Indicators

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1.Problem Statement

Climate variability is not a new phenomenon in the world (Trenberth and Dai, 2000). The rise in temperature of the earth surface and atmosphere, rising of sea level (for example, due to melting of glacier), wind speed, flooding due to heavy rainfall, fluctuation in rainfall, drought and declining ground water are all clear evidence of climate change and variation (Kumar and Sharma, 2013). According to *Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)*, changes in climate can be caused by natural factors but these changes result mostly from human activities (for example, anthropogenic emission of greenhouse gases). Furthermore, factors such as a high population growth rate, rapid increase of urbanization and economic development, swift industrialization, transport, infrastructure, reduction in forest area are generally due to human activities. Such activities contribute to climate change (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011).

Agriculture is an important sector in the economy of many countries and it accounts for about one third of Africa's Gross Domestic Product (GDP). It also employs about 75% of the total labor force and is the main source of livelihood for rural people (*EU*, 2007). In many Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries, agriculture accounts for about 60% of the economically active population (WDI, 2006, cited in Chijioke *et al.*, 2011). In addition, agriculture is the back-bone of most West African countries, including Mali. It accounts for about 40% of Malian GDP (AGRA, 2013).

However, because agriculture in West Africa is predominantly rain-fed, it is highly dependent on climatic conditions. According to IPCC WG II (2014), climate change without adaptation will adversely affect the major crops (wheat, rice, and maize) in the tropic (such as Mali) and temperate regions. Furthermore, climate change is the greatest threat to agricultural productivity and food security in the 21st century, especially in developing countries, due to their low capacity to effectively cope with a possible decrease in yields, among others (Nellemann *et al.*, 2009, cited in Pedercini, 2012). Clearly, developing countries are most vulnerable to climate conditions, compared to developed countries. Developing countries are more vulnerable because of low level of technological progress, like inadequate resources to mitigate the adverse effects of climate change on agriculture and high dependence on agriculture for livelihood (Nath and Behera,

2011). This would increase the severity of disparities in food grain yields between developed and developing countries (Fischer *et al.*, 2005, cited in Kumar and Sharma, 2013). The Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC-AR4) highlighted the vulnerability of African agriculture and all who depend on it for food security and livelihood (IPCC, 2007). Thus, it is very pertinent to look at how climatic conditions would affect crop production in Mali, especially rice production in Office Riz Ségou.

Meanwhile, the future climate projection in the West African region is highly uncertain, especially rainfall (IPCC, 2013). The main crops produced in Mali are millet, rice and sorghum. Moreover, the National Adaptation Program of Action for Mali has identified agriculture, health, fisheries, energy and water as the sectors being most at risk of climate change. Also, agriculture is the main activity of rural people in Mali. However, weather and climate hazards like droughts and flood have led to disastrous consequences for the livelihood of farmers. The geophysical, location of Mali shows that about half of the country is located in the arid zone and therefore unsuitable for agricultural activities; such limitations in agricultural production makes the country vulnerable to the effects of a changing climate and variability.

According to Verburg *et al.* (2009), the increased risk of seasonal droughts and limited access to water resources will negatively affect rice production. Furthermore, high temperatures reduce cold dry season production levels, while intensive storms increase runoff and negatively affect rice production. In addition, climate variability affects water availability and quality in Niger River, which will directly reduce both rice and livestock production (Verburg *et al.*, 2009).

Furthermore, it is projected that by the end of the 21^{st} century, there may be a rise in temperature from 1.5 to 4.5°C, while precipitation will decrease in the sub-tropics and Sahelian zone, and extreme events will become more frequent (IPCC, 2007). However, the increase in CO₂ concentration in the atmosphere is likely to have positive effects on rice yield (Basak *et al.*, 2010). Wassmann and Dobermann (2007) projected that for every 75 part per million (ppm) increase in CO₂ concentration, rice yields will increase by 0.5 t ha⁻¹, but yield will decrease by 0.6 t ha⁻¹ for every 1°C increase in temperature. Figure 1.1 shows the relationship between rice production (yield and weight), mean day/night air temperature and CO₂ concentration of 330 and 660 µmol/mol in five separate experiments.



Figure 1.1. Relationship between rice, mean day/night air temperature and CO₂ concentration in five separate experiments

Source: FAO, 1996

"Office Riz Ségou" is one of the major rice production areas in Mali after Office du Niger. Meanwhile, River Niger is the main source of irrigation channel of ORS. The change in climate and its related effects on the availability and quality of river water is a significant problem in the area: it could adversely affect rice production. Rainfall variability and its related drought and flood may reduce rice production in "Office Riz Ségou".

The long term relationship between inter-annual variability in temperature, rainfall, runoff and annual yields of the most important food crops in Office Riz Ségou need to be investigated. The study intends to analyze the effect of climate variability on household's welfare, agricultural income and farm revenue in the area. The effect of climate variability and change on rice production needs to be investigated in Office Riz Ségou, Mali.

1.2.Research Objectives

The aim of this study is to investigate the effect of hydro-climatic parameters on rice production in Office Riz Ségou.

The specific objectives of this study are to:

- analyze the trend of rainfall, humidity, temperature and river flow and find the nature of correlation between each variable and rice production in Office Riz Ségou,
- determine the effects of hydro-climatic parameters (rainfall, humidity, temperature and river flow) on rice production in Office Riz Ségou,
- > assess farmers' perception on climate variability and change in the study area

1.3.Research Questions

In order to achieve the above objectives, this study seeks to answer the following questions:

- What is the nature of changes in rainfall, humidity, temperature and river flow in the study area?
- ▶ How is rice production affected by the fluctuation of the hydro-climatic factors?
- > What is the farmers' level of awareness on climate variability and change?

1.4. Research Hypotheses

The research hypotheses supporting this study are:

- \checkmark hydro-climatic factors are some of the underlying causes that influence rice production;
- ✓ farmers have a good perception of climate variability and change indicators;

1.5.Plan of the Thesis

This thesis consists of five chapters. The first chapter addresses the problem statement, the research objectives, the research questions and the plan of the thesis. The second chapter covers literature review on the topic and addresses the relationship between climate conditions, rice production and food security. The third chapter deals with the study area, the methods and material used in the study for data collection and analysis. The fourth chapter covers the results (findings) and discussion of the research work. The fifth chapter deals with conclusions and recommendations on the basis of the findings.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Climate Variability and Change

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) defines climate change as "a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties, and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer" (IPCC, 2007). The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) defines climate change as "a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods." Climate variability refers to variations in the mean state and other statistics (such as standard deviations, the occurrence of extremes, etc.) of the climate on all temporal and spatial scales beyond that of individual weather events (IPCC, 2001). In light of this definition, climate variability can be viewed as year to year variation of climate conditions (Dinse, 2011).

Since the early 1990s, the IPCC has provided evidence of accelerated global warming and climate change. The IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) presents new evidence of climate change (IPCC, 2013) with an increase in the number of hot days and nights over a long-period. The global mean temperature showed an increase of 0.78 (0.72 to 0.85) °C over the period of 162 years (1850 to 2012), and currently the predictions of global average temperature increase will be between 1.5°C to 4.5°C by the end of 21st century (IPCC, 2013). In Africa, global warming is likely to be even larger than the global annual mean warming, and this is across all seasons on continent (IPCC, 2013). Since 1975, temperatures have increased by more than 0.8° Celsius (°C) across most of Mali (U.S. Geological Survey, 2012).

According to IPCC (2007), the significant increase in rainfall has been observed in the central and northern Asia, northern Europe, and in the eastern parts of North and South America, while a decrease has been observed in the Sahel (IPCC, 2007). Climate change is a reality that is affecting rural livelihoods in West Africa particularly in Sahelian countries. It presents a growing challenge in the region, as in many other parts of the African continent and elsewhere (Jalloh *et al.*, 2013, cited in Traoré, 2014). Climate change is likely to reduce the major crop yields such as rice, sorghum and millet in India (Gupta *et al.*, 2012, cited in Kumar and Sharma, 2014). Climate

variability will have consequences for the marginalized and poor groups in which the majority depends on agriculture for their livelihoods with a low adaptive capacity to the climate conditions. The most vulnerable areas to climate effect in Mali is the northern part while its southern part has medium vulnerability to climate effect (USAID, 2014).

2.2. Climate Change and Crop Production

Changes in rainfall patterns and increasing temperatures have an effect on crop yield. They directly affect water availability and indirectly affect irrigation channel. There is a strong linkage between crop production, food availability and food accessibility, which determine whether an individual, a household or even a given nation has food security (Chijioke *et al.*, 2011). According to Knox *et al.* (2012), "Climate change is a serious threat to crop productivity in regions that are already food insecure". It is projected that climate change will have an effect on eight major crops in Africa and South Asia.

According to Maikasuwa and Ango (2013), climate change affects crop production in four ways: changes in temperature and precipitation have decreasing effects on crop productions, increased CO₂ in the atmosphere is expected to have positive effect on crop productions, runoff and unavailability of water decrease crop production. Increase in temperature above 3°C is expected to have negative effects on crop production in all regions (IPCC, 2007); for any increased of 1°C of the mean temperature, the yield of major crops will decreased by 5-7% (Matthews *et al.*, 1997, cited in Ayinde *et al.*, 2013).

The major crop production in Mali are rice, millet, sorghum, cotton and other vegetables crops. The country has three main climatic zones, namely, Sahelian zone, Saharan zone and Sudanic zone. Millet, sorghum and rice are generally growing in the Sahelian zone. Pastoralism is the only viable livelihood in the Saharan zone, while cotton, rice, millet, sorghum, groundnuts and vegetables are predominant in the Sudanic area (Pedercini, *et al.*, 2012). The effect of climate change on crops yields depend on agro-climatic zones in Mali. However, changes in climate have an effect on all the climatic zones in Mali (Pedercini, *et al.*, 2012).

Crop production is one aspect of food systems affected by climate variability and change. Climate is a primary determinant of agricultural productivity. So, any changes in climate will influence crop growth and yield (Knox *et al.*, 2012). This is because crop production does not only deal with how the crop consumed are produced, but it also employs many people in Mali, where over 85 percent of the people depend on farming and low trade for their livelihoods. Any change of climate affects water availability and crop production in Office Riz Ségou which will have a significant ripple effect resulting not only in the reduction of food availability but will equally increase market prices in the country.

2.3. Concept of Food Security

There are several definitions of food security. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) defines it as when "all the members of the society have access to the food according to their needs, either from their own production, or from the market or from transfer mechanism of the government" (cited in Kumar and Sharma, 2013). Coleman-Jensen *et al.* (2014) define food security as "access by all people at all times to enough food for an active, healthy life".

According to the FAO (2008), "Food security exists when all people at all times have physical or economic access to sufficient safe and nutritious food to meet their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life". This definition is similar to the previous one. Food security consists of these four components: food availability, food accessibility, food utilization and food stability (FAO, 2008).

- Availability is related to crop production and its importation;
- Accessibility depends on the level of household income to purchase food at prevailing prices or to have sufficient farming land;
- Stability refers to the ability of food over long period of time in the country;
- Food utilization refers to households' use of the food to which they have access and individuals' ability to absorb nutrients.

2.4. Food and Nutrition Security

The concept of nutrition security emerged with the recognition of the necessity to include nutritional aspects into food security. Food and nutrition security are about ensuring that everybody is able to have access to sufficient, affordable and nutritious food. Weingärtner (2004) further developed a definition of food and nutrition security as a condition under which adequate food (quantity, quality, safety, socio-cultural acceptability) is available and accessible for and satisfactorily utilized by all individuals at all times to live a healthy and happy life (cited in Pangaribowo, 2014). Therefore, "food and nutrition security exists when all people at all times

have physical, social and economic access to food, which is consumed in sufficient quantity and quality to meet their dietary needs and food preferences" (Wüstefeld, 2013).

2.5. Climate Change, Food Security, Poverty and Hunger

There is a strong relationship between food system and climate. Any fluctuation of climate may affect the world food systems. Food security is directly related to climatic conditions; any change of climate can directly affect a country's ability to feed its population (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011 cited in Kumar & Sharma, 2013). Changes in climate affects all four pillars of food security i.e., food availability, food accessibility, food utilization and food stability (FAO, 2008). Thus, climate change is a critical element for assessing household or national food security. According to FAO (2008), climate change will affect food security through its effects on all components of global, national and local food systems. Climate change will bring an effect on crop production and will affect food availability (Chijioke *et al.*, 2011).

Availability of food products is affected by climate condition via its effects on crop yields, crop pests and diseases, and soil fertility. It is also affected by climate change indirectly via its effects on economic growth, income distribution and agricultural demand. This will have effects on both rural and urban locations where supply chains are disrupted through production losses and increase in market prices (FAO, 2008). Higher fluctuation in crop yields and food supplies may negatively affect food stability. Food stability, crop yields and food supplies are adversely affected due to variations of climatic parameters (Greg *et al.*, 2011).

Climate change will also affect food accessibility through the ability of individuals, communities and countries to obtain sufficient quantities of good-quality food. A threat to food utilization that reduces nutritional value of the food, changes in climate may adversely affect human health by increasing the circulation of diseases in geographical areas. Agricultural output in developing countries may decrease by 20 percent due to climate change. Equally, the yields in developing countries may decline by 15% due to climate change (FAO, 2008, cited in Greg *et al.*, 2011). Through climate change, hunger and malnutrition will increase in most areas, especially in rural areas because they mainly depend on agriculture.

Agricultural productivity is an important part of food security which is an integral part of reducing poverty and hunger. Therefore, "climate change and poverty are interconnected in many ways such as increase in temperature leading to a warmer climate may increase the spread of

diseases like malaria; and finally it may lead to an increase in extra burden on poor people resulting to an increased poverty" (Kumar and Sharma, 2013). Rainfall variability and its related drought or flooding can damage households' assets for those who are depending on agriculture production for their livelihood; it can lead to increment in poverty and may seriously threaten food security in many countries (Oluoko-Odingo and Alice, 2009, cited in Kumar and Sharma, 2013). "The results of climate change pose a serious threat of hunger, food insecurity, poverty, and malnutrition" (Belloumi, 2014). Climate variability, agriculture productivity, food security, undernourishment and poverty are directly linked to each other and there are relative threats to all the components of human security (Hollaender, 2010, cited in Kumar, 2013).





2.6. Effect of Climate Change on Rice Production

Global warming (rise in temperature mainly due to carbon dioxide emissions) and variability in rainfall patterns are expected to affect rice production and its availability. Carbon dioxide is an essential component of photosynthesis and as such an increase of CO_2 in the atmosphere is expected to increase plant growth. Projections for the future climate condition are surrounded by significant uncertainties. Most studies on the increase of temperature and climate change scenarios predict the decline in precipitation patterns. Future open water evaporation rates

are expected to increase due to the threat of a changing climate (Helfer, 2012). Drought and extreme rainfall as a result of climate have a negative effect on rice yields (Auffhammer et al., 2011). Climate change is expected to significantly affect the productivity of rice systems and thus the nutrition and livelihood of millions of people (FAO, 2007).

Heat waves coinciding with the sensitive production stage can result in serious damage to rice production especially in some tropical and subtropical regions. Increase of temperature beyond the normal may adversely influence the growth duration of rice crop and its growth pattern. It equally reduces grain filling duration and increases the respiratory losses as well as reduces the yield and grain quality (Basak *et al.*, 2010, Mohanty, 2013). Therefore, increases in minimum temperature have negative effects on rice yield. With an increase of 1°C of temperature, there will be a 10% decrease in grain yield and biomass (Ranuzzi and Srivastava, 2012; Mohanty, 2013). According to Geethalashmi *et al.* (2011), rice production has declined by 41% with 4°C increase in temperature in Tamil Nadu, India (cited in Kumar *et al.*, 2014). In addition, increase in minimum temperature up to 1°C leads to a decrease in yield of rice by 3% and 10% in Punjab, India (Hundal and Prabhjyot-Kaur, 2007 cited in Kumar *et al.*, 2014).

Rainfall variability is one of the most important factors that limits the yield of rain-fed rice cultivation. Variability in the onset of the rainy season leads to variation in the beginning of the planting season in rain-fed rice cultivation. According to Basak *et al.* (2010), variations of rainfall have an effect on rice yield. Fluctuation of rainfall and its related floods and droughts caused 82.4% of the total Philippino rice losses from 1970 to 1990 (Lansigan *et al.*, 2000, cited in Krishna, 2014). Niger River, the main source of irrigation channel in "Office Riz Ségou", is affected by climate change through the fluctuation of rainfall. The water discharge of the Niger River has an average decline in the range of 40-60% in river flow since 1970 (Verburg *et al.*, 2009).

In addition, the water availability in the Niger River depends on rainfall, which is very unpredictable. The models do not agree on their predictions of climate change for West African region, but the inter-annual variability in the amount of rainfall will increase, especially in Sahelian countries (Traoré, 2014). This has negative effects on the water flow of the River Niger, which reduces water availability for irrigation.

Changes in climate and its relative effects may adversely affect rice production system in "Office Riz Ségou". Rice production system in the area is called "controlled submersion rice". There are two main stages for rice grown in ORS:

- The first stage, in which rice is developed from rain water, is called "rain stage". Thus plowing, sowing and weeding are related to rainfall conditions.
- Second stage, in which rice is developed through input water (irrigation), is based on river system.

However, both stages are complementary for a good rice production in ORS. It is necessary that these two stages take place in good conditions. If one of the stage is affected, rice production is compromised. That is why rice production system is very uncertain in the area: risks related to decrease of rainfall (drought) and uncertainties related to the rising of Niger River as a result of heavy rainfall. All these hazards are generally due to changes of climate factors (ORS, 2010).

2.7. Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change

IPCC defines adaptation as "adjustments in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderately harm or exploit beneficial opportunities" (IPCC TAR, 2001). Based on this definition, adaptation to climate change can be defined as the ability of humans or nature to respond or cope with changes of climatic conditions. However, human activities cause climate change. The selection of appropriate rice varieties deserves consideration for adaptation to climate change (FAO, 2007).

According to Nwalieji and Onwubuya (2012), adaptation measures such as the use of improved varieties, resistant varieties to flood and drought, the moderate use of agro-chemicals and fertilizers and diversification in crop production contribute to the reduction of the effects of climatic conditions on rice production.

2.8. Review of Theoretical Methods

To evaluate the effect of climate variability on crop production, the weather-crop yieldforecasting model was applied to estimate prospective production of Aus rice in Jessore and Rajshahi districts of Bangladesh by Rahman *et al.* (2005), by using the linear multiple regression models. In order to evaluate climatic effects on rice crop production and measure production efficiency due to climate change in Bangladesh, the multiple regression model and stochastic frontier model were used. The linear multiple regression models was used by Dahal and Routray (2011) to identify associations between soil and production variables. Furthermore, Ogbuene (2010) used the multiple regression model to evaluate the effect of meteorological parameters on rice yield in Nigeria. In addition, Ammani et al. (2012) used multiple regression analysis to evaluate the effect of climate change and maize production in Kaduna State, Nigeria.

Nyanga *et al.* (2011) conducted a study on some farmers in Zambia to ascertain their perception on climate change. The results show that most farmers perceived no change in the duration of the hot season but noted reduction in the rainy season duration. Semi-structured interviews were used by Nzeadibe *et al.* (2011) to assess farmers' perception of climate via randomly collected quantitative information in Niger Delta Region of Nigeria. It was observed that the farmers were unaware of available mitigation measures for climate change effects. Aphunu and Otoikhian (2008) also assessed farmers' perception of the effectiveness of extension agents of Delta State Agricultural Development Programme (DADP) in Nigeria. To access farmers' perception of climatic conditions in Uganda, household survey was carried out, using a standard structured questionnaire and the survey established that most of the respondents were aware of changes in the climate (Nellemann *et al.*, 2013).

The present study has adapted the model used by Rahman *et al.* (2005), to analyse the effect of hydro-climatic factors and rice production in ORS, Mali. To assess farmers' perception of climate variability/change in the study area, we adapted the sampling method of Aphunu and Otoikhian (2008) and Nzeadibe *et al.* (2011).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Study Area

Ségou region is an administrative area in Mali, located in the centre of the country with an area surface of approximately 64,821 km² (around 5% of Mali). It has a population of about 2,336,255 inhabitants (RPGH, 2009). The Ségou region is characterized by a semi-arid climate, and has two seasons: a dry season and a rainy season. The rainy season starts in June and ends in September and the average yearly rainfall is about 513 mm. The main economic activity of the region is agriculture (e.g. cropping and cattle raising).

"Office Riz Ségou" is located in the central part of Mali, Ségou. It is a public administrative area which was created in 1991 for agricultural activities. The area of intervention of the "Office Riz Ségou" is located in the middle valley of the River Niger, the main source of irrigation channel for approximately 34,076 hectares in the ORS. ORS covers 234 villages located in the districts of Ségou, comprising 23 rural municipalities and totaling 259,588 inhabitants (ORS, 2003). The main crops produced are rice, millet, sorghum, maize and groundnut; vegetable are also produced in the area. ORS includes 3 rural development areas, with 7 agricultural sectors. Most of the arable land for growing rice are controlled by the ORS. Indeed, over 90% of rice growing areas in Mali are located in the Central Delta of the Niger River, where are located the Office du Niger, the ORS and ORM. However, it is estimated that the irrigation channel of ORS is under the expertise of the extension officers and not well adapted to be easily used by the farmers.

The present study focuses on the district of Ségou, located at 13°35' North, 6°15' West, with specific emphasis on the following two villages: Soké and Konodimini. According to the chiefs of Soké and Konodimini, more than 90% and about 90% of the farmers produced rice and some other crops. The figure 3.1 below shows the map of the study area.



Figure 3.1: Location of the study area

3.2. Sampling Procedure and Data Collection

3.2.1. Primary Data

The study employed a multistage sampling technique. In the first stage, the villages of Soké and Konodimini were randomly selected from the 234 villages that make up "Office Riz Ségou". It was confirmed by the chiefs that about 90% of the households are rice farmers. In the second stage, 63 and 87 heads of household who were at least 30 years old and had about 10 years' experience in rice production were randomly selected in Soké and Konodimini, respectively. Hence, a total of 150 households were sampled for this study.

These surveys collected information based on socio-economic characteristics, farmers' perception of climate, education information, effect of climate change and adaptative strategies to climate change.

This research adopted an exploratory approach, by using predominantly qualitative methods to examine the research questions in order to determine farmers' perception. In order to ensure primary data quality, research assistants were recruited and trained to administer questionnaires before going to the field. They were familiar with the local language. The questionnaires were pre-tested in order to identify the gaps before the field survey.

3.2.2. Secondary Data

Climate data used in this study are monthly values of minimum and maximum temperatures, mean precipitation (rainfall), River Niger water level, rice production and minimum and maximum humidity amounts sorted by decades for the whole time series. Climatic data are obtained from the Mali meteorological agency (Mali Météo). The table 3.1 below shows the description of secondary data.

Data	Sources	periods
Monthly and annual minimum and	Meteorological Agency of Mali	1980-2014
maximum temperature.		
Monthly and annual rainfall.	Meteorological Agency of Mali	1980-2014
Monthly and annual minimum and	Meteorological Agency of Mali	1980-2014
maximum humidity.		
Monthly and annual minimum and	Hydrological Agency of Mali	1980-2013
maximum river flow		
Annual rice production, yield and areas	Office Riz Ségou (O-R-S)	1992-2013
data.		
Documents, articles, report, etc.	Different offices and online sites	Not determined

Table 3.1: Description of secondary data

3.4. Data Analysis

The annual temperature, rainfall, humidity and river flow were analyzed using SPSS in order to determine the trends. In addition, correlation between hydro-climatic parameters and rice production were analyzed. The standardized anomalies of hydro-climatic factors and rice production data were calculated and graphically presented to evaluate inter-annual relationship between them. RClimdex was used to make the multiple regression analysis between hydro-climatic factors and rice production. SPSS was used for descriptive statistics on climate parameters, rice production data and socio-economic data.

3.5. Analytical Techniques

3.5.1. Trend Analysis

Trend analysis for temperature, humidity, River Niger flow and rainfall was done by using time series data to project future results for these variables. Trend analysis of a time series refers to the magnitude of trend and its statistical significance. The magnitude of trend in a time series was

determined by using regression analysis in order to know if the trend is significant or not. This method assumes a linear trend in the time series. Regression analysis was conducted with time as the independent variable and rainfall, humidity, temperature or river flow as the dependent variable. The regression analysis was carried out directly on the time series or on the anomalies (Jain and Kumar, 2012). This study is based on regression analysis because it helps us to identify the anomalies. A linear regression equation is stated as follows:

$$Y = ax + b \qquad 3.1$$

Where: \boldsymbol{b} (the intercept) and \boldsymbol{a} (the slope) can be fitted by regression. The linear trend value represented by the slope of the simple least-square regression line provides the rate of rise in the variable.

3.5.2. Multiple Regression Model

Rice production function (Rahman et al., 2005) that was used in this study is given as:

$$Y_{i} = \sum_{i}^{n} \sum_{j}^{\kappa} \beta j W_{ij} + \mu_{i}$$
 3.2

Where: y_i is rice production, w is the hydro-climatic variables, b are the coefficients of the relevant variables, β_0 is the constant and μ_i is the disturbance term (error).

The explicit formulation of the model was:

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 R_t + \beta_2 T_t + \beta_3 H_t + \beta_4 R F_t + \mu_t$$
3.3

Where:

 Y_t : is the production (for instance, output in ORS) for farm $I = 1 \dots n$ (=22);

 T_t : is the mean temperature (measure in degrees Celsius) experienced by annual average;

*P*_{*t*}: is mean precipitation (measure in millimeters) experienced annual;

H_t: is the relative humidity experienced by annually average;

*RF*_{*t*}: is the river flow experienced by annual average;

 β_k : is the vector of the k=0.....4 parameters to be estimated; and

 μ_t : is a normally distributed error term. Furthermore, if for instance $\beta_1 \mathcal{E}(0, 1)$, then $(\partial Y_t / \partial T_t) >$

0, and $(\partial^2 Y_t / \partial T_t^2) \le 0$ (i.e. there are diminishing return to temperature).

3.5.3. Farmers' Perception

Farmers' ability to perceive climate variability and change and its effects on rice yield in "Office Riz Ségou" and their capacity to adapt are one of the main objectives of this study. The accuracy of farmers' perception on climate change and their long-term perception on changes in temperature and precipitation are assessed. Survey method used a questionnaire as a tool. The data collected from field was used to draw charts which was generally in percentages. The above mentioned statistical software was used to analyze the data.

CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS AND DISCUSION

4.1. Trend of Hydro-Climatic Parameters

4.1.1. Inter-annual Variability of Rainfall

Figure 4.1 shows the analysis of climate data for 35 years. The data was collected from the national meteorological station, Bamako, Mali. The results show four main peaks of rainfall respectively in 1988, 1994, 1999 and 2010, indicating abundant water supply in the study area during those years. Furthermore, there are some variations in the trend. For example, yearly rainfall decreased in 1982, 1987, 2002 and 2007. Similarly, the results indicate that 1982 has the least amount of rainfall which shows the occurrence of drought, in line with the general drought in Mali (Diallo *et al.*, 2011). In general, there is no significant trend of rainfall with p-value equal to 0.08522 and the co-efficient of determination ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.08771$). The inter-annual variability of rainfall may threaten ecosystem services in Niger River, which is the main source of irrigation channel in the area.



Figure 4.1: Inter-annual variability of rainfall (1980-2014)

4.1.2. Anomaly of Inter-annual Variability of Rainfall

The analysis of 35 years climatic data shows an inter-annual anomaly of rainfall (see Figure 4.2). The Figure also shows that the rainfall was below normal from 1980 to 1985 while there was a huge fluctuation in inter-annual rainfall pattern from 1986 to 2001. The drought spell was realized from 2002 to 2007 when the rainfall was below the normal. There was rainfall recovery between late 2000 and early 2010 but 2013 and 2014 show a decrease in rainfall. Therefore, considering the moving average of 5 years' time interval, four major changes in rainfall trend have been identified. From 1984 to 1992 and 2004 to 2009, the rainfall is below the normal, while the rainfall is above normal from 1994 to 2003 and from 2010 to 2014.



Figure 4.2: Anomaly of rainfall time's series (1980-2014)

4.1.3. Seasonal Variability of Monthly Rainfall

Figure 4.3 shows the average monthly rainfall from January to December. From January to April the amount of the rainfall is almost closer to zero and it is considered as the dry period in the Sahel, including Mali. There is a progressive increase in rainfall from May to July with an increase in August and a decrease in October. Also, Figure 4.3 shows less rainfall during the harmattan period (November and December). Therefore, the rainy season in the study area runs from May to October with its peaks in August. The monthly variability of the rainfall variation as shown in figure 4.3

indicates that the rainfall is unevenly distributed during the period of the study which follows the normal rainfall pattern of Sudano-Sahel savannah. The distribution of rainfall in the study area is similar to the findings of previous study conducted by Nicholson (2005) who found out that the rainfall pattern in the Sahel is not stable.



Figure 4.3: Monthly rainfall seasonal variability (1980-2014)

4.1.4. Variation in Temperature

Figure 4.4 shows the average temperature of Ségou station which is characterized by inter-annual variability. Two periods of variation can be noted: the first period is from 1980 to 1995 where the temperature is lower and the second period, which runs from 1996 to 2014 with higher temperature is higher. There is an exceptional year (1987) in the first period when the temperature is as high as what can be seen in the second phase. Similarly, there are two years (1999 and 2012) in the second phase in which the temperature is as low as the maximum temperature in the first phase. In general, the temperature shows an increasing trend, with the co-efficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.3528$). This finding is similar to the findings by US Geological Survey (2012). Furthermore, this result confirms the findings of IPCC (2013) which show that the global mean temperature has increased to about 0.78°C in the last 60 decades and it is expected to increase. In addition, the trend of average minimum and maximum temperature anomalies from 1961 to 1990 in four stations (Niamey, Tillabery "Niger", Fada "Burkina Faso" and Ndjamana "Chad") showed an increasing trend (Sarr

et al., 2015). The trend of temperature shows an increase of 0.59°C and p-value equals to 0.00017: the trend of temperature in the study area is significant.



Figure 4.4: Inter-annual variability of mean temperature (1980-2014)

4.1.5. Variation in Temperature Anomaly

Figure 4.5 shows two phases of anomaly in mean temperature. From 1980 to 1995, temperature is below the normal, except in 1987 while it is above the normal from 1996 to 2011, except in 1999. By using the moving average of 5 years times' interval, two (2) main changes are noted in temperature trend: it is below normal from 1984 to 1998 and above the normal from 1998 to 2014. This explains the starting point of increasing temperature in the study area.



Figure 4.5: Anomaly of inter-annual mean temperature (1980-2014)

4.1.6. Trend of Humidity

Figure 4.6 shows a fluctuation in relative humidity from the beginning of the trend to the end. The fluctuation in this trend can be divided into two parts: the peak of humidity of 46% from 1982 to 1988 and 52% from 1988 to 2013, except in 1993, 1996, 2002 and 2008. Also, humidity pattern in the study area is characterized by an inter-annual variability of humidity and an increasing trend, with the co-efficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.2264$). The increasing trend of humidity in study area is significant because p-value is equal to 0.003868. Therefore, an increasing trend of humidity pattern has been observed for the last 35 years.



Figure 4.6: Variation of inter-annual relative humidity (1980-2014)

4.1.7. Anomaly Variation in Relative Humidity

Figure 4.7 below shows the analysis of average humidity and enormous variation from 2007 to 2014. It can be clearly seen in Figure 4.7 that from 1980 to 1990, humidity is below the normal and from 1991 to 2006 humidity is above the normal, with the exceptional of years 1993, 1996 and 2002 in which the average relative humidity is below the normal. There are fluctuations in average relative humidity from 2007 to 2014. Therefore, three (3) main changes have been observed by using the moving average of 5 years interval. From 1984 to 1992 the trend of humidity is below the normal; the trend is above normal from 1993 to 2014 and it is normal (equal to 0) in 2009.



Figure 4.7: Anomaly of inter-annual mean humidity (1980-2014).

4.1.8. Trend of River Flow

The analysis of the mean flow of River Niger for Kirango station shows an inter-annual variability as depicted by Figure 4.8. This Figure shows two (2) periods of variation: 1980 to 1993, in which the river flow is lower than the second period which starts from 1994 to 2013. Figure 4.8 also shows one main peak in the starting point of the second period in 1994, where the river flow is the highest and 1984 indicating the lowest river flow. Generally, the linear trend shows an increasing trend, with the co-efficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.2205$) and p-value is equal to 0.0051, showing that the increasing trend is statistically significant. This result is not in line with the findings of Roudier et al. (2014) who establish that river flow is not consistent from station to station in Volta River but a negative trend is projected in the Gambia and Volta River.



Figure 4.8: Inter-annual variability of river flow (1980-2013)

4.1.9. Anomaly in River Flow

The analysis of 34 years hydrological data shows a fluctuation in inter-annual anomaly of river flow. It has been identified in Figure 4.9 that the river flow was below the normal during the period of 1982 to 1993 and above the normal from 1994 to 2013 with the exceptional of 2002, 2004, 2007 and 2011. Therefore, the use of the moving average of 5 years times' interval demonstrated two (2) main changes in the trend of river flow. From 1984 to 1995, the trend of River flow is below the normal and above the normal from 1995 to 2013. This inter-annual variability of water in River Niger could be due to the fluctuation in rainfall. This finding concurs with the result of research conducted by Verburg *et al.* (2009) who found out that there are fluctuations in River Flow in Office du Niger.



Figure 4.9: Anomaly of inter-annual mean river flow (1980-2013).

Table 4.1. Summary of the trend of hydro-climatic parameters indicating maximum, minimum, average, standard deviation and slope coefficients of the four factors.

Statistics Hydro-climatic factors	Standard deviation	Slope coefficient	Range Min - max	Mean Value
Rainfall	237.6	3.75mm/year	391.4 - 954.9mm	636.18mm
Temperature	0.56	0.03°C/year	28.40 - 30.45°C	29.40°C
Humidity	2.57	0.12%/year	46 - 56%	51%
River flow	201.44	9.50m ³ s ⁻¹ /year	455.23 - 1198.82m ³ /s	843.85m ³ /s

 Table 4.1: Summary of statistical trend analysis

4.2. Inter-annual Variability of Rice production

4.2.1. Trend of Rice Production

Figure 4.10 shows the analysis of rice production in Office Riz Ségou, explaining inter-annual variability of rice yield. This shows three (3) main peaks in 1998, 2002 and 2010 with 40,000,

about 5,000 and more than 66,000 tons, respectively. This result shows that 2003 corresponds to a serious reduction in rice production, while 2010 witnesses there is an increase of rice production. However, rice production in ORS has an increasing trend in figure 4.10, with the co-efficient of determination (R^2 =0.5882) and p-value equals to 0.00003 with insignificant increasing trend. The inter-annual variability of rice production in the study area can be explained by the variability of climatic parameters which may affect food availability in the study area and may adversely affect food and nutrition security in the country.



Figure 4.10: Inter-annual variation of rice production (1992-2013)

4.2.1. Rice Production Anomaly

Figure 4.11 illustrates three main variations, from 1992 to 2005 rice production is approximatively below the normal, while from 2006 to 2013 rice production is above the normal. By using the moving average of 5 years times' interval analysis of 22 years of rice production, two (2) main changes in the trend can be observed. From 1996 to 2006, the trend of rice production is below the normal except in 2001 where it equals to the normal; it is above the normal from 2007 to 2013. Also, from 1996 to 2001 and 2006 to 2013 there are increasing trends in rice production. This result is in line with the findings of Sarma *et al.* (2008), who also noticed the increasing trend of the moving average of rice yield. On the contrary, a decreasing trend was observed from 2001 to 2003.



Figure 4.11: Inter-annual anomaly of rice production anomaly (1992-2013).

4.3. Relationship between Rice Production and Hydro-climatic Parameters4.3.1. Rainfall and Rice Production

Figure 4.12 below shows the relationship between rainfall and rice production. From 1992 to 1999 when rice production is increasing, rainfall is fluctuating indicating that, there is no relationship between them. However, an increase in rice production as a result of an increasing rainfall trend was recorded from 2000 to 2012. In this case, there is a relationship between rainfall and the production. While, in 2013, there is no correlation between rice production and rainfall in Office Riz Ségou. This concurs with the findings of Tanaka *et al.* (2012) who found out that, "the relationship between rainfall and rice production is not clear". However, this result is contrary to the finding of Zakaria *et al.* (2014) who found a good relationship between rice production and rainfall in Bangladesh.



Figure 4.12: Relationship between rice production and rainfall

The correlation between rainfall and rice production is shown in Figure 4.13, which is not significant with p-value = 0.5488. Some researchers also have concluded that the correlation between rainfall and rice yield was 0.14 which is low and is an indicator of direct independence of rice yield on rainfall (Sarma *et al.*, 2008). It can be inferred from Figure 4.13 that there is no correlation between rainfall and rice production in "Office Riz Ségou". Therefore, rice production in "Office Riz Ségou" is not dependent on the amount of rainfall in the locality. This can be explained by the fact that the farms are irrigated at certain period of the rainy season. Rice production may have a good correlation with river water, so it is necessary to do a correlation between the river water irrigation and rice production.



Figure 4.13: Correlation between rice production and rainfall

4.3.2. Temperature and Rice Production

The relationship between temperature and rice production as depicted by Figure 4.14 indicates increasing trends for both rice production and temperature from 1994 to 1998. From 1999 to 2013, as rice production is decreasing, temperature is increasing with some exceptional years (from 2010 to 2013). Similar result was found by Tanaka *et al.* (2012) who concluded that there is no relationship between rice production and temperature.



Figure 4.14: Relationship between temperature and rice production

The correlation between temperature and rice production is shown in the figure 4.15. This shows that the correlation between rice production and temperature is not significant with a p-value equals to 0.2074. According to Soungalo Sarra, the head of irrigated rice research program at Institut d'Economie Rurale (IER), temperature between 13 to 40°C is good for rice production, while 1°C rise in average daily temperature reduces major crops production by 5-7% (Matthews *et al.*, 1997, cited in Wassmann and Dobermann 2007). The yield of non-irrigated crops such as wheat and rice shows a decrease and loss in farm-level net revenue by 9% and 25% for a temperature increase of 2–3.5°C (Wassmann and Dobermann 2007). In addition, it is observed that a 2°C increase results in a 15–17% decrease in grain yield of rice and wheat (Aggarwal and Mall, 2002, cited in Wassmann and Dobermann, 2007).



Figure 4.15: Correlation between rice production and temperature

4.3.3. Humidity and Rice Production

Figure 4.16 shows the relationship between humidity and rice production. From 1993 to 1998 rice production shows an increasing trend, while humidity shows both increasing and decreasing trends. However, from 1999 to 2013 when humidity is increasing, rice production is increasing and as humidity is decreasing, rice production is also decreasing with the exception of the last two years (2012 and 2013).



Figure 4.16: Relationship between humidity and rice production

The correlation between humidity and rice production is shown in figure 4.17 with p-value: 0.2349. The correlation between humidity and rice production is not significant. The finding of Ayinde *et al.* (2013) shows that an increase of 1% in humidity will cause 17.1% reduction in rice production in Niger State. From the results of correlation between rice production and climatic parameters (rainfall, temperature and humidity), it can be inferred that rice production does not directly depend on climatic factors.



Figure 4.17: Correlation between rice production and humidity

4.3.4. River Flow and Rice Production

Figure 4.18 shows the relationship between rice production and river flow. From 1993 to 1998, rice production shows an increasing trend, while river flow was fluctuating. However, from 1999 to 2013, generally when river flow shows an increasing trend, rice production shows a decreasing trend except 2002 where the decrease of rice production corresponds to decrease of river flow. The Figure 4.18 below shows no significant relationship between rice productions and river flow.



Figure 4.18: Relationship between river flow and rice production

Figure 4.19 below shows a correlation between rice production and river flow. The correlation is not significant with p-value: 0.9707, implying that rice production does not depend on river flow in the study area. This may be attributed to data location because results of Verburg *et al.* (2009) shows that rice production in Office du Niger depends on River Niger flow.



Figure 4.19: Correlation between rice production and river flow

In summary, the result shows no relationship between hydro-climatic parameters (i.e. rainfall, temperature, humidity and river flow) and rice production. Also, the correlation between rice production and hydro-climatic factors are not significant.

4.4. Multiple Regression of Rice Production as a Function of Hydro-climatic Factors.

To evaluate the effect of climate variability on rice production, the production in ORS is taken as dependent variable of rainfall, temperature, humidity and river flow for a period of 22 years (1992 to 2013). The multiple regression model for production is applied for the analysis, it helps us to know which of the hydro-climatic parameters influence rice production in the area.

The regression analysis for rice production and hydro-climatic parameters are described in Table 1. Regarding model validation, we used the Fisher-Snedecor test to validate the individual significance of each coefficient indicated in Table 1. Furthermore, the coefficient of determination (R^2) shows that the model explains 32% of the total variation in the rice production in ORS.

Variables	Coefficients	t-statistic
Constant	-774382.86369	-2.5534324
Rainfall	33.24448	0.7159896
Temperature	0297.24267	2.2574321**
Humidity	4071.97037	1.5549172
River Flow	-29.34251	-1.1127224

Table 4.2: Multiple regression of rice production as a function of hydro-climatic factors.

Note: *1% and ** (5%) level of significance

The result of multiple regression analysis shows that temperature is the only variable which is significant at 5%. This result is similar to the findings of Rahman (2005) who found out that the minimum temperature has significance on rice production while, rainfall, relative humidity and river flow are not significant. Rahman's results clarify that weekly rainfall has huge significance on rice production while annual rainfall has no significance on rice production. On the contrary, Ogbuene (2010) found out that rainfall is significant to rice yields in Nigeria, while Sarker et al. (2012) found that rainfall has a statistically significant effect on Aus and Aman rice production in Bangladesh. Although temperature contributes positively to rice production in the study area (ORS), it does not have meaningful level of influence.

In sum, the correlation and multiple regression analysis between hydro-climatic parameters and rice production shows that rice production does not only depend on hydro-climatic factors; so, the first hypothesis is rejected.

4.5. Farmers' Perception on Climate Change

4.5.1. Farmers' Perception on Rainfall

The local farmers have determined the change in rainfall by using the length of rainy season, the amount of rain, onset of the rainy season and cessation of rainy season. From the result of the analysis, 99.3% of the households perceive a change in seasonal rainfall, while 0.7 % perceive no changes in seasonal rainfall. Also, 32%, of the farmers show that rainfall starts late, while 23.3% of the farmers observe that rainfall ends early and the length of rainy season is becoming shorter, according to 37.3% of the farmers. All the respondents identify an increase in dry spell, while 7.3% of the farmers introduced the modification of seasonal rainfall (figure 4.21). Furthermore, in a similar research conducted in Burkina Faso, over 90% perceived a decline in the amount of rainfall during rainy season and 95% of the farmers confirm that rainfall starts late and ends early (Sanfo et al., 2014). Figure (4.22) indicates that 76% of the farmers notice a decrease in rainfall, while 24% of respondents indicate that the rainfall has increased. Also, 24% perceived an increase in rainfall and 49% of the total respondents' perceived decrease in rainfall in Bawku, Ghana (Acquah, 2011). (See Annex A)



nature of rainfall

4.5.2. Farmers' Perception on Temperature

Concerning the perception of farmers regarding temperature; 84.7% of the farmers observe the change in temperature, 6% see no change in temperature and 9.3% have no idea about the variability of temperature (see Annex A). Figure 4.23 below shows that 75% of respondents realize an increase in temperature, while 12% of respondents indicate a decrease in temperature. This result is similar to the findings of Acquah (2011) who showed that the majority constituting 60% of the total respondents perceived an increase in temperature in Ghana and that of Sanfo *et al.* (2014), where 95% of the farmers noticed changes in temperature in Burkina Faso.



Figure 4.22: Farmers' perception on temperature

4.5.3. The Effect of Climate Hazard on Rice Production

Rice production is affected by many factors: climatic parameters or other hazards. From figure 4.24 below, 86% of the households considered drought as the main cause of decrease in rice production and 4% agree on the increase in rice production during dry spell. Again, 43.3% of the farmers have identified high temperature as an important factor that affects rice production. Figure 4.25 below shows that out of these 43.3 % of respondents who identified high temperature as an important factor that affects rice production as an important factor that affects rice production and many factors.

increase in rice production, while 35% of them said high temperature can lead to decrease in rice production.

Furthermore, 68% of the farmers perceive that climate is changing. Concerning the causes of climate change, 55.3% considered deforestation as the main cause, while 10% of the farmers considered population growth as the main cause of climate change. According to Kalinda (2011), most of the farmers considered deforestation as the main cause of climate change in Zambia. Again, 79.3% considered climate change as bad, while 16.7% of the farmers opposed it. The farmers who said it was good based their views on their religious beliefs. Equally, 98.7% of the household perceived climate has been changing since early 2000s. Drought was considered as the most climate hazard that affects households. It was also opined that climate change enormously affects food security. (See Annex A)



Figure 4.23: Farmers' perception on the effect of rainfall on rice production



4.5.4. Adaptation Strategies

The result from statistical analysis shows that farmers were limited by drought and other hazard that affect rice production. It was discovered that 98% of the households did not have adaptation

strategies to drought but 7.3% of the farmers created drainage systems, while 45.3% of them used improved seeds as the main adaptation strategies to flood in the study area, as Figure 4.26 below illustrates it. Also, 72.7% of the households affirmed that they lacked aid to face the effects of climate change on rice production, as opposed to 26% of the respondents who had aid in the area. (See Annex A)



Figure 4.25: Farmers' adaptation strategies

In sum, the results of farmers' perception shows that the households are aware about climate variability/change and its effect on rice production in Office Riz Ségou: so, the second hypothesis is accepted.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The study focused on the influence of climate variability on rice production in "Office Riz Ségou" from 1980 to 2014. An increasing trend in hydro-climatic parameters (temperature, humidity and river flow) was observed; they are significant at 1%, while rainfall is not significant. In addition, using the moving average of 5 years the trend of hydro-climatic parameters show two main differences (above and below the normal), except rainfall which show a very high variability. The variability of the rainfall indicates that the rainfall is not regularly distributed during the period of the study. It is observed that rice production increases and the trend is significant at 1%.

There is no relationship between hydro-climatic factors and rice production. Also, correlation between hydro-climatic factors and rice production is not significant at 5% level. Furthermore, the correlation between rice production and hydro-climatic parameters (rainfall, temperature and humidity) indicates that rice production is not directly dependent on climatic factors. All the correlations were positive but they do not have significant influence on rice production within the study area.

The multiple regression analysis for rice production and hydro-climatic parameters shows that the correlation between temperature and rice production was significant at 5% while, rainfall, humidity and river flow are not significant.

Majority of the farmers do not have strategies to combat or cope with drought, while drought was considered as the main cause of decrease in rice production. Also, farmers considered deforestation as the main cause of climate change. While there is no adaptation strategies to address drought, the creation of drainage system and the use of improved seeds are considered as the main adaptation strategies to flood in the study area.

Finally, most farmers have identified a decrease in the amount of rainfall and increase in temperature in the study area. As a result, there is a similarity between time series analysis of temperature, rainfall and farmers' perception on these parameters (temperature and rainfall).

Considering the various effects of hydro-climatic parameters on rice production in the study area, it is necessary to apply the following recommendations:

promote agro-meteorological advisory services which will be useful in farm planning and

environmental resource sustainability through closer collaboration among meteorologists and agricultural scientists. This is needed to increase people's awareness of the existing data-base in the study area

- promote best rice production practices that are climate change resilient such as efficient irrigation system in ORS.
- improved seed and early maturing species should be adapted to increase rice production; and
- adapt and promote drought tolerant rice crops species to increase rice production

Limitation

Hydro-climatic parameters are not the only parameters that influence rice production: farm
practices and farm inputs are other factors. Thus, it is necessary to further examine such
factors to increase rice production and food security in Office Riz Ségou.

REFERENCES

- Abaje I. B.; Ati, O. F.; Iguisi, E.O. (2012). Recent Trends and Fluctuations of Annual Rainfall in the Sudano-Sahelian Ecological Zone of Nigeria: Risks and Opportunities. *Journal of Sustainable Society* 1(2): 44-51
- Acquah, H. D-G. (2011). Farmers Perception and Adaptation to Climate Change: A Willingness to Pay Analysis. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa* 13(5): 150-161
- Ahmad, J.; Alam, D.; Haseen, S. (2011). Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and Food Security in India, *International Journal of Agriculture Environment and Biotech* 4: 129-137.
- Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA). (2013). Africa Agriculture Status Report: Focus on Staple Crops. Nairobi, Kenya: 1-204. www.agra.org
- Ammani, A. A.; Ja'afaru, A. K.; Aliyu, J. A.; Arab, A. I. (2012). Climate Change and Maize Production: Empirical Evidence from Kaduna State, Nigeria, *Journal of Agricultural Extension* 16 (1): 1-8
- Aphunu, A.; Otoikhian, C.S.O. (2008). Farmers' Perception of the Effectiveness of Extension Agents of Delta State Agricultural Development Program (DADP). African Journal of General Agriculture 4(3): 165-169.
- Auffhammer, M.; Ramanathan, V.; Jeffrey, R.V. (2011). Climate Change, the Monsoon, and Rice Yield in India. Springer Science Business Media B.V. DOI 10.1007/s10584-011-0208-4.
- Ayinde, O.E.; Ojehomon, V.E.T.; Daramola, F. S.; Falaki, A.A. (2013). Evaluation of the Effects of Climate Change on Rice Production in Niger State, Nigeria. *Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management* 6: 763-773.

- Basak, J. K.; Ali M. A.; Islam, N.; Rashid, A. (2010). Assessment of the Effect of Climate Change on Boro Rice Production in Bangladesh Using DSSAT Model. *Journal of Civil Engineering* 38: 95-108.
- Belloumi, M. (2014). Investigating the Linkage between Climate Variables and Food Security in ESA Countries, AGRODEP Working Paper 04 1(4): 1-26
- Chijioke, O. B.; Haile, M.; Waschkeit, C. (2011). Implication of Climate Change on Crop Yield and Food Accessibility in Sub-Sahara Africa. Zentrum fur Entwicklungs for Schung Center for Development Research University of Bonn: 1-23.
- Coleman-Jensen, A.; Gregory, C.; Singh, A. (2014). Household Food Security in the United States. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service: Economic ResearchReport (173): www.ers.usda.gov
- Dahal, H.; Routray, J. K. (2011), Identifying Associations between Soil and Production
 Variables Using Linear Multiple Regression Models, *The Journal of Agriculture* and Environment 12: 27-37
- Diallo, H., Bamba, I., Sabas, B. YS., Visser, M., Ballo, A., Mama, A... Bogaert, J. (2011). Effets combinées du climat et des pressions anthropiques sur la dynamique évolutive de la végétation d'une zone protégée du Mali (Réserve de Fina, Boucle du Baoulé). Sécheresse 2: 97-107.
- Dinse, K. (2011). Climate Variability and Climate Change. Available at: www.miseagrant.umich.edu/climate.
- EU. (2007). Advancing African Agriculture: Proposal for Continental and Regional Level Cooperation on Agricultural Development in Africa. DG Development
- FAO. (1996). Global Climate Change on Agriculture Production: Direct & Indirect Effect. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, University of Florida. Available: http://www.fao.org/docrep/w5183e/w5183e06.htm/25/03/2015.

- FAO. (2007). Adaptation to Climate Change on Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries: Perspective, Framework and Priorities, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome: 1-26. Web site: http://www.fao.org
- FAO. (2008). Climate Change and Food Security: A Framework Document. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome: 1-68.
- Greg, E. E.; Anam, B. E.; William M. F.; Duru, EJC. (2011). Climate Change, Food Security and Agricultural Productivity in Africa: Issues and Policy directions. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science* 1: 205-223.
- Helfer, F.; Lemckert, C.; Zhang, H. (2012). Impacts of Climate Change on Temperature and
 Evaporation from a Large Reservoir in Australia, *Journal of Hydrology*: 365–378.
- IPCC. (2007). Climate Change: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team *et al.* (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland: 30
- IPCC; 4th Assessment Report. (2007). "Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability". Available from: http://www.ipcc-wg2.org.
- IPCC. (2013). "Climate Change: The Physical Science Basis" Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC. (2013). Summary for Policymakers. In: T.F. Stocker *et al.* (Editors), Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC. (2014). Summary for policymakers. Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects: 1-32.

- IPCC. 4th Assessment Report. (2015). Available from:www.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/ar4-wg2.htm; http://study.com/academy /lesson/what-is-primary-data-in-marketing-research-definitionsources-collection.html /14/06/.
- Jain, S. K.; Kumar, V. (2012). Trend Analysis of Rainfall and Temperature Data for India. *Current Science* 102(1): 37-49.
- Kalinda, T. H. (2011). Smallholder Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change and Conservation
 Agriculture: Evidence from Zambia, *Journal of Sustainable* Development 4: 73-85.
- Kalungu, J.W.; Filho, W. L.; Harris, D. (2013). Smallholder Farmers' Perception of the Impacts of Climate Change and Variability on Rain-fed Agricultural Practices in Semi-Arid and Sub-humid Regions of Kenya. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science* 3: 129-141.
- Knox, J.; Hess, T.; Daccache, A.; Wheeler, T. (2012). Climate Change Impacts on Crop Productivity in Africa and South Asia, Environmental Research Letters 7 034032: 1-8. Available line: http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-9326/7/3/034032
- Krishna, H. K.; Ashok, K. M.; Samarendu, M. (2014). Determinants of Rice Productivity and Technical Efficiency in the Philippines, *Selected Paper prepared for presentation at the Southern Agricultural Economics Association (SAEA) Annual Meeting, Dallas, TX*: 1-15
- Kumar, A.; Sharma, P. (2013). Impact of Climate Variation on Agricultural Productivity and Food Security in Rural India. *The Open-Assessment S-Journal* 43: 3-38.
- Kumar, A.; Sharma, P.; Kumar, A. S. (2014). Climatic Effects on Food Grain Productivity in India: A Crop Wise Analysis. *Journal of Studies in Dynamics and Change* 1: 38-48.

- Li, X.; Nobuhiro, S. (2013). Implications of Climate Change Impacts on Regional Maize Production in the United States: Risk Mitigation Strategies and Food Security. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development* 4(5): 446-451.
- Maikasuwa, M., A.; Ango, A. K. (2013). Impacts of Climate Change on Crop Production in Nigeria, *Journal of Agricultural Research* 2(8): 1-6.
- Mohanty, S.; Wassmann, R.; Nelson, A.; Moya P.; Jagadish, S.V.K. (2013). Rice and Climate Change: Significance for Food Security and Vulnerability. Discussion Paper Series.
 Los Baños (Philippines): International Rice Research Institute (49): 1-14.
- Nath, P.K.; Behera, B. (2011). A Critical Review of Impact and Adaptation to Climate Change in Developed and Developing Countries. *Environmental Development Sustainability* 13: 141-162.
- Nellemann, C.; MacDevette, M.; Manders, T.; Eickhout, B.; Svihus, B.; Prins, A. G.; Okonya J. S.; Syndikus, K.; Krosche J. (2013). Farmers' Perception of and Coping Strategies to Climate Change: Evidence from Six Agro-Ecological Zones of Uganda. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 5: 253-256.
- Nicholson, S. (2005). "On the question of the "recovery" of the rains in the West African Sahel," *Journal of Arid Environments* 63(3): 615–641. View at Publisher · View at Google Scholar · View at Scopus.
- Nwalieji, H. U.; Onwubuya E. A. (2012). Adaptation Practices to Climate Change Among Rice Farmers in Anambra State of Nigeria. *Journal of Agricultural Extension* 16: 42-49.
- Nyanga, P. H., Johnsen, F. H.; Aune, J. B. (2011). Smallholder Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change and Conservation Agriculture: Evidence from Zambia. *Journal of Sustainable Development* 4(4): 75-76.

- Nzeadibe, T. C.; Chukwuone, N. A.; Egbule, C. L. ; Agu, V. C. (2011). Farmers' Perception of Climate Change Governance and Adaptation Constraints in Niger Delta Region of Nigeria. *African Technology Policy Studies Network Research* 7: 13-16.
- Ogbuene, E. B. (2010) Impact of Meteorological Parameters on Rice Yield: an Approach for Environmental Resource Sustainability in Ebonyi Rice Farmland, Nigeria, *Journal of Environmental Issues and Agriculture in Developing Countries* 2(2 & 3): 103-116
- Pangaribowo, E. H.; Gerber N.; Torero, M. (2014). Food and Nutrition Security Indicators: A Review, FOODSECURE Working Paper 05: 1-50
- Pedercini, M.; Kanamaru, H.; Derwisch, S. (2012). Potential impacts of climate change on food security in Mali. Natural Resources Management and Environment Department, FAO, Rome.
- Rahman, M. S.; Huq, Md. M.; Mostafa, M. G.; Azad, M. R. (2005) Statistical Analysis of Crop-Weather Regression Model for Forecasting Production Impact of Aus Rice in Bangladesh, *International Journal of Statistical Sciences* 4: 57-77
- Ranuzzi, A.; Srivastava, R. (2012). Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and Food Security. Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations (ICRIER) (16):16.
- RGPH. (2009). Recensement General de la Population et de l'Habitat du Mali.
- Roudier, P.; Ducharne, A.; Feyen, L. (2014). Climate change impacts on runoff inWest Africa: a review, *Hydrologies and Earth System Science* 18: 2789–2801
- Sanfo, S.; Lamers, J. P.A.; William, F. M. (2014). Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change and Climate Variability Versus Climatic Evidence in Burkina Faso, West Africa. See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: http://www.researchgate.net/publication/266026012

- Sarker, R. A. Md.; Alam, K.; Gow J. (2012) Exploring the relationship between climate change and rice yield in Bangladesh: An analysis of time series data, *journal homepage* 112: 11-16: www.elsevier.com/locate/agsy
- Sarma A. A. L. N.; Lakshmi, K. TV.; Koteswararao, K. (2008). Development of an Agroclimatic Model for the Estimation of Rice Yield *Journal India Geophys. Union* 12(2): 89-96.
- Sarr. B.; Atta, S.; Ly, M.; Salack, S.; Ourback, T.; Subsol, S.; George, D. A. (2015).
 Adapting to Climate Variability and Change in Smallholder Farming Communities: A Case
 Study from Burkina Faso, Chad and Niger (CVCDAPT), *Journal of Agriculture Extension and Rural Development* 7(1): 16-27
- Tanaka, K.; Managi, S.; Kondo, K.; Masuda, K.; Yamamoto, Y. (2012). Potential climate effects on Japanese rice productivity, *Munich Personal RePEc Archive*. Online at http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/35823/ MPRA Paper (35823), posted 10. January 2012 16:03 UTC
- Traoré, B. (2014). Climate Change, Climate Variability and Adaptation Options in Smallholder Cropping Systems of the Sudano - Sahel Region in West Africa. PhD Thesis, 163 pages
- Trenberth, K. E.; Dai, A. (2000). Observed Climate Variability and Change of Relevance to the Biosphere. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 105, D15:20,101–20,114.
- UNFCCC Article1; Available from: http://unfccc.int/essential-background/convention/background /items/ 1349.php.
- USAID. (2014). An Introduction to the ARCC Climate Change in Mali Series. Available from: available from: https://www.google.com/search?q=%22An+Introduction+to+the+ARCC+Climate+Ch an ge+in+Mali+Series.+Available+from%22&ie=utf-8&oe=utf-8

- USGS. (2012). U.S. Department of the Interior. A Climate Trend Analysis of Mali. Famine Early Warning Systems Network Informing Climate Change Adaptation Series. Fact Sheet 2012–3105. http://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2012/3105/
- Verburg, R.; Chen, L.; Cissé, Y.; Saulo, F.; Keita, B., Lindoso, D.; Traore, M., Demba, G. C., Diarra, A. T. and Debortoli, N. (2009). Climate change in Mali and Brazil: Towards an Evaluation Method of Climate Change and Land use Policies. Report 2009-060, ISBN/EAN: 978-90-8615-357-2: 108p.
- Wassmann, R.; Dobermann, A. (2007). "Climate Change Adaptation through Rice Production in Regions with High Poverty Levels" 4(1): 1-24. SAT Journal | ejournal.icrisat.org
- Weingärtner, L. (2004). The Concept of Food and Nutrition Security International Training Course Food and Nutrition Security Assessment Instruments and Intervention Strategies, Background Paper (I): 1-28 Online: http://www.researchgate.net/publication/237783690_Food_and_Nutrition_Security_A sse ssment_Instruments_and_Intervention_Strategies
- Wüstefeld, M. (2013). Food and Nutrition Security, UNSCN (United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition) Meeting of the Minds Nutrition impact of food
 Syst. available on line: https://www.google.com/search?q=%22+W%C3%BCstefeld+Marzella.+2013.+Food+ and+Nutrition+Security%22&ie=utf-8&oe=utf-8/03/11/2015/ 12:55
- Zakaria, Md.; Aziz, A. Md.; Hossain, I. Md.; Rahman, F. N. Md. (2014). Effects of Rainfall and Maximum Temperature on Aman Rice Production of Bangladesh: A Case Study for Last Decade, *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research* 3 (2): 131-137

Rapport Annuel de l'Office Riz-Ségou (ORS) 2003 et 2010.

Annex A: Farmers' Perception on Climate Change

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	yes	149	99.3	99.3	99.3
Valid	no	1	.7	.7	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Modification of Seasonal Rainfall

Get help from government or NGO

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
		2	1.3	1.3	1.3
Valid	yes	39	26.0	26.0	27.3
v allu	no	109	72.7	72.7	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Adaptative strategies to drought

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	no	147	98.0	98.0	98.0
Valid	others	3	2.0	2.0	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

The name of climate change

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	yes	102	68.0	68.0	68.0
Valid	no	48	32.0	32.0	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

The main cause of climate change

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	deforestation	83	55.3	55.3	55.3
	population growth	15	10.0	10.0	65.3
Valid	transport	5	3.3	3.3	68.7
	land degradation	1	.7	.7	69.3
	others	46	30.7	30.7	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	good	25	16.7	16.7	16.7
Walid	bad	119	79.3	79.3	96.0
Valid	3	6	4.0	4.0	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Climate change good or bad

Effect of climate variability village

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative %
	yes	148	98.7	98.7	98.7
Wal: 4	no	1	.7	.7	99.3
Valid	3	1	.7	.7	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Effect of temp on rice production

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	yes	65	43.3	43.3	43.3
Walid	no	57	38.0	38.0	81.3
v and	others	28	18.7	18.7	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Changes of temperature

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	yes	127	84.7	84.7	84.7
Valid	no	9	6.0	6.0	90.7
	Don't know	14	9.3	9.3	100.0
	Total	150	100.0	100.0	

Annex B: QUESTIONNAIRE

QUESTIONNAIRE OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON RICE PRODUCTION IN MALI: A CASE STUDY OFFICE RIZ SEGOU

Region	Circle	Extension	service,.
Compartment	Name of T	Village	

Т

Work number:

Γ

Date of Interview: / / 06 / 2015

٦

	Questions	Answers					
Ι	SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS						
	Age of household chief	1.) 30-40 2.) 40-50					
1.1		3.) 50-60 (4.) more than 60 (
1.2	Gender	1.) Male 2.) Female					
1.3	Ethnic						
1.4	Marital Status	 1.) Single 2.) Married 3.) Widowed 4.) Divorced 5.) Separated 3. 					
1.5	Level of education of household chief	1.) Primary 3.) High 2.) Secondary 4.) University 5.) Arabe 6.) Bambara 7.) Others 8.) Never					
1.6	How many people are in your family?	1.) Men / / women / / 2.) Children: boys / / girls / /					
1.7	How many people work in your farm?	1.) Men 2.) Women Children 3.) boys 4.) Girls					
1.8	What is your main activity?	1.) Crop production 2.) livestock 3.) Trade 4.) Fishing/catch					
1.9	If crop production, which type of crop are	Area Product ^O yield					
	you producing adding to rice?	Rank RS DS RS DS RS DR					
		Rice					
	RS (rainy season)	Sorghun					
	DS (dry season)	Millet					
		Grandnut					

		Others				
			Rank	num	bers	
		Cows				
		Sheep				
1.10	Are you rising animals?	Goat				
		Horse				
		others				
1.11	Fishers	1.) Fishing/catcl	h 🗌	2.)	Trader	
		3.) Pisciculture		2	.) Others	
1.12	What is/are the Source of land you use for rice farming?	 Purchase Inheritee Rented/I Attribute Contract 	ed I (famil <u>)</u> nired ed	y) [
1.13	If your land is rented/attributed/ Purchased, how much do you pay per hectare?	 1.) Rented 2.) Attribute 3.) Purchase 4.) contract 	ed]]	Price/ha	
1.14	Input used for rice production per hectare.	Seeds (Kg/ha) . Others(kg/ha)		, Fei	rtilizers(Kg/	ha)
1.15	How many times did you produce rice per year?	1.) One [2.)	Two	
1.16	If one, why?					
1.17	Are women allowed to inherit land in your village?	1.) Yes 2.) No]			
1.18	If not, why?					

II	FARMERS' PERCEPT	TION OF CLIMAT	`E			
2.1	Are there any modificati rainfall during these last area?	on in the seasonal t 10 years in your	1.) Yes 2.) No			
2.2	If yes, what are the modifications? Answer	How long is the rain season?	1.) 1 to 3 months 3.) More than 5 months 2.) 3 to 5 months			
	·····	How long is the dry season?	1.) 2 to 4 months 3.) More than 6 months 2.) 4 to 6 months			
2.3	Are there any changes area?	of rainfall in your	1.) Yes 2.) No			
2.4	If yes, how is occurring?		 Increase of rainfall Decrease of rainfall More rainfall causing flooding Decrease of rainfall causing drought 			
2.5	What is the occurrence your area?	of daily rainfall in	1.) Continuous 1.) Intermittent			
2.6	In case of intermittent rai duration in the day?	in what is the main	1.) An hour			
2.7	What is the duration be your area?	tween the rains in	1.) 1-4days 2.) 4-7days 2.) 2weeks 4.) 3weeks 5.) A month 6.) More than a month			
2.8	Are there any changes of	temp in your area?	1.) Yes No			
2.9	If yes how?		 1.) Higher temperature 2.) Lower temperature 			
2.10	Does the increase of ter effect on rice production	nperature have an ?	1.) Yes 2.) No			
2.11	If yes, what are they?		1.) Increase of prodt 2.) Decrease of prodt			
2.12	Did you hear the name of	f climate change?	1.) Yes 2.) No			
2.13	What are the main c change?	auses of climate	1.) Deforestation 4.) Land degradation 2.) Population growth 5.) Industrialization 3.) Transport 6.) Others			

2.14	Is-climate change good or bad thing?	1.) Good 2.) Bad							
2.15	Since when did you know the climate is changing?								
III	EFFECT OF CLIMATE CHANGE								
3.1	Did you think climate variability or change have an effect in your village?	1.) Yes 2.) No							
	If yes, what is the main climatic hazard in your village?	1.) Drought 2.) Flood 3.) Storm (wind) 4.) Bush fire							
3.2		5.) Others							
3.4	What is the frequency of the hazard?	1.) More 2.) Average 3.) Less							
3.5	Is this hazard affecting rice production?	1.) Yes 2.) No							
3.6	If yes how?	1.) Decrease of production							
3.7	Did you change your activity because of it?	1.) Yes 2.) No							
3.8	If yes what are you doing now?								
3.9	Apart from climate, are there any other hazards which affect rice yield in your area?	1.) Yes							
3.10	If yes, what are they?	1.) Insects 2.) Low nutrient 3.) Others							
3.11	Does climate variability or change affect food availability in your village?	1.) Yes 2.) No							
3.12	If yes, how (in which sense/way)?								
3.13	What are the most vulnerable people of climate change in your village?	1.) Men 3.) Children 2.) Women 4.) All							
3.14	Why?								

IV	EDUCATION/INFORMATION								
4.1	How often does agricultural extension services visit your farm?	1.) Weekly 2.) Monthly 3.) 1-6 months 4.) Yearly 4.) 1-4 years 6.) Not at all							
4.2	Do you receive any information about climate change, awareness program?	1.) Yes From who 2.) No Image: Constraint of the second							
	Do you continuous to receive information about it?	1.) Yes From who 2.) No From who							
4.3	If yes, what is the time interval?	CC	Hours	days	Weeks	Months			
		Radio							
		TV							
		ORS							
		others							
V	ADAPTATIVE STRATEGIES TO CLIMATE CHANGES								
5.1	In case of drought, what are your adaptative or coping strategies?								
5.2	What are your adaptative/coping strategies for rice production if flooding occurs in your area?								
5.3	When flood/drought occurred, did you get help from government or NGOs?								

Others Comments: